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1

1.

Plaintiff CATALINA RICALDAI (hereinafter referred to as “Plaintiff”),

2 brings this class action on behalf of herself and all other similarly situated current and
3 former investigators in the State of California (hereinafter collectively referred to as
4 “Class Members”) of Defendant US INVESTIGATIONS SERVICES, LLC (“USIS”)
5 and other as of yet unnamed Defendants, DOES 1 through 100, inclusive (collectively,
6 “Defendants”), who are similarly situated, for violations of the California Labor Code.
7 Plaintiff, on behalf of the class, seeks damages, statutory penalties, attorneys’ fees,
8 statutory interest, and costs of suit.
9
10
11

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2.

Defendant USIS has removed this lawsuit from the Los Angeles County

12 Superior Court to this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. sections 1332(d), 1441, and 1446.
13

3.

Each of the defendants has sufficient minimum contacts with the State of

14 California or otherwise intentionally avails itself of the laws and markets of the State
15 of California so as to sustain this Court’s jurisdiction over the defendants.
16

4.

Venue is proper in Los Angeles County because Defendant conducts

17 business here. The bad conduct, as alleged herein, emanated here. In addition,
18 Defendant’s obligation or liability arose here and the relevant transactions and events,
19 alleged herein, occurred in and emanated here. Furthermore, the State of California has
20 a substantial interest in deterring wrongful conduct by businesses within its borders and
21 protecting employees from wrongful conduct emanating from California.
22

5.

The amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional minimum of this

23 court. However, the amount in controversy with respect to Plaintiff’s individual claims
24 and each member of the proposed class in this action does not exceed $74,999, and the
25 aggregate claim does not exceed $5 million.
26 / / /
27 / / /
28 / / /
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1
2

DEFENDANT
6.

Defendant is a limited liability company duly organized and existing under

3 the laws of the State of Delaware.
4

7.

Plaintiff does not know the true names or capacities of defendants sued

5 herein as Does 1 through 100, inclusive, and will amend her complaint toward the same
6 as soon as they are ascertained.
7

8.

Plaintiff is informed and believes and, on that basis alleges, that each of

8 the fictitiously named defendants were in some manner legally responsible for the
9 unlawful actions, policies, and practices, including the failure to provide duty-free meal
10 periods, as described by the California laws complained of herein. Plaintiff will amend
11 her complaint to set forth the true names and capacities of said defendants, along with
12 the appropriate charging allegations when the same have been ascertained.
13

9.

On the basis of information and belief, it is alleged that each of the

14 defendants herein was the agent of the others and the agent of Defendant. Each of the
15 defendants was acting in the scope of his or her agency at all relevant times. Each of
16 the defendants’ acts complained of herein was authorized or ratified by the other
17 defendants, including Defendant or the duly authorized representatives or managing
18 agents of Defendant, in the course and scope of the agency for the benefit of
19 themselves, each other and the benefit of Defendant. Defendant and Does 1 through
20 100 are hereinafter collectively referred to as “Defendants.”
21
22
23

PLAINTIFF
10.

Plaintiff resides in Los Angeles County, State of California. Plaintiff was

24 employed as an investigator by Defendants from July of 2003 to November of 2008.
25 Plaintiff is a member of the Class, which is defined in paragraph 20 below.
26
27
28

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
11.

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial of these matters, except those matters
-3-
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1 that must be heard before a judge.
2
3
4

CLASS ALLEGATIONS
12.

Plaintiff brings this lawsuit as a class action, pursuant to California Code

5 of Civil Procedure Section 382, on behalf of all investigators, in the State of California
6 at any time from a four-year period prior to the filing of the complaint.
7

13.

Defendants, by their practices and policies, have violated the rights of their

8 employees under the California Labor Code, and applicable Wage Orders. The
9 questions raised are of common or general interest to the class members, and they have
10 a well defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact raised in this
11 action, because the action focuses on Defendants’ practice of violating the California
12 Labor Code and Wage Orders, as a result of its practice of failing to provide duty-free
13 meal periods, and the California Business and Professions Code which prohibits unfair
14 business practices arising from such violations.
15

14.

There are dozens of investigators who have been subject to Defendants

16 unlawful and wrongful practices and, therefore, their numerosity makes it impractical
17 to bring them all before this Court, and disposition of their claims in a class action is
18 a benefit to the parties and to the Court.
19

15.

The class that Plaintiff seeks to represent, as described herein, is clearly

20 ascertainable. The rights of these individuals under the California Industrial Welfare
21 Commission Wage Orders and California Labor Code have been violated by
22 Defendants’ failures to provide a duty-free meal period, and to pay one hour wages for
23 Defendants’ failures to provide a duty-free meal period.
24

16.

The claims of Plaintiff, which are for failure to provide duty-free meal

25 periods, and to pay one hour wages for Defendants’ failure to provide a duty-free meal
26 period, are typical of the claims of the Class Members, because Plaintiff and Class
27 Members have suffered from the same violations of the law as the class. Plaintiff has
28 retained competent counsel to represent her and the Class Members, and will fairly and
-4-
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1 adequately represent the interests of the class.
2

17.

A class action is superior to other available means for a fair and efficient

3 adjudication of this controversy. Individual joinder of all Class Members is not
4 practicable, and questions of law and fact common to the class predominate over any
5 questions affecting only individual Class Members. Each Class Member has been
6 damaged and is entitled to recover by reason of Defendants’ illegal policy and/or
7 practice of failing to provide duty-free meal periods, and failing to pay wages for meal
8 periods not provided as required by law. Class action treatment will allow those
9 similarly situated persons to litigate their claims in the manner that is most efficient and
10 economical for the parties and the judicial system.
11
12
13

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES
18.

During the times pertinent to this Complaint, Defendants were and are in

14 the business of delivering products to customers. Defendants’ business has been
15 regulated by various California Labor Code Sections including, but not limited to, 203,
16 226, 226.7 and 512, and various Wage Orders, at all pertinent times.
17

19.

During the times pertinent to this Complaint, Defendants failed to provide

18 duty-free meal periods in accordance with California Labor Code Sections 226.7 and
19 512, and the applicable Wage Order and/or failed to pay employees one additional hour
20 of pay for each duty-free meal period that was not provided in accordance with
21 California law.
22
23
24

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
20.

Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of the following

25 defined “Class”: All investigators in California who are or were employed by
26 Defendants, during the time specified under each of the following causes of action.
27

21.

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis, alleges that during the

28 relevant time period, dozens of investigators have been employed by Defendants, in the
-5-
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1 State of California, including Los Angeles County. Because of the large number of
2 investigators that have been employed by Defendants, the Class Members are so
3 numerous that joinder of all members is impossible and/or impracticable.
4

22.

Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the Class Members. Plaintiff, like other

5 Class Members, worked for Defendants in California as an investigator, and was
6 subjected to Defendants’ policy and practice of refusing to provide duty-free meal
7 periods, in violation of California’s wage and hour laws. Plaintiff’s job duties and
8 claims were and are typical of those of other Class Members who worked for
9 Defendants in California.
10

23.

A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and

11 efficient adjudication of this controversy.
12

24.

Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class

13 Members and has retained counsel who are competent and experienced in both class
14 action and employment litigation.
15

25.

Common questions of law and fact exist as to all Class Members and

16 predominate over any questions solely affecting individual Class Members. Among the
17 questions of law and fact common to the Class are:
18

(a)

Class Members, in violation of Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512;

19
20

(b)

21
22

Whether Defendants failed to provide duty-free meal periods to

Whether Class Members sustained damages and, if so, the proper
measure of such damages.

26.

Plaintiff knows of no difficulty which will be encountered in the

23 management of this litigation which would preclude its maintenance as a class action.
24

27.

The names and addresses of Class Members are available from

25 Defendants. Notice will be provided to Class Members via first class mail and/or by
26 the use of techniques and a form of notice similar to those customarily used in class
27 actions.
28 / / /
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1

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

2

(Compensation Due for Failure to Provide Meal Periods Labor Code Sections 226.7 and 512)

3
4

28.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations above contained in

5 Paragraphs 1 through 27, inclusive, as if fully set forth here.
6

29.

Defendants routinely failed to provide Plaintiff and Class Members duty-

7 free meal periods and/or to pay Plaintiff and Class Members one additional hour of pay
8 for duty-free meal periods that were not provided in accordance with Labor Code
9 Sections 226.7 and 512 and the applicable Wage Order, from a three-year period prior
10 to the filing of the Complaint to present.
11

30.

Defendants’ conduct described in this Complaint violated and continues

12 to violate the provisions of Labor Code Sections 226.7 and 512 and the applicable
13 Wage Orders, in that Defendants did not and do not provide Plaintiff and Class
14 Members meal periods or pay to Plaintiff and Class Members one hour wages as
15 compensation for the duty-free meal periods not provided as required by law. Plaintiff
16 and Class Members are entitled to recover the unpaid wages that Defendants owe them,
17 plus interest on that amount at the rate of ten percent per annum, reasonable attorneys’
18 fees, and costs of suit.
19

31.

As a proximate result of the aforementioned violations, Plaintiff and Class

20 Members have been damaged in an amount according to proof at the time of trial, but
21 not in an amount in excess of the jurisdiction of this Court.
22

32.

In addition, if Plaintiff succeeds in enforcing these rights affecting the

23 public interest, then attorneys’ fees may be awarded to Plaintiff and against Defendants
24 under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 and other applicable law in part because:
25

(a)

A successful outcome in this action will result in the enforcement

26

of important rights affecting the public interest by requiring

27

Defendants to comply with the wage and hour laws and California’s

28

unfair business practice law;
-7-
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1

(b)

This action will result in a significant benefit to Plaintiff, the Class,

2

and the general public by bringing to a halt unlawful, unfair,

3

deceptive, and misleading activity and by causing the return of ill-

4

gotten gains obtained by Defendants;

5

(c)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Class Members and the general

6

public will not recover those monies, and many of Defendants’

7

employees would not be aware that they were victimized by

8

Defendants’ wrongful acts and practices;

9

(d)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Defendants will continue to

10

mislead its employees about the true nature of their rights and

11

remedies under the wage and hour laws; and

12

(e)

An award of attorneys’ fees and costs is necessary for the

13

prosecution of this action and will result in a benefit to Plaintiff, the

14

Class, and to consumers in general by preventing Defendants from

15

continuing to circumvent the wage and hour statutes and frustrate

16

the long-standing recognition by the California legislature and the

17

courts that such statutes, as pled herein, are not merely a matter of

18

private concern between employer and employee to be eviscerated

19

by considerations of waiver, contributory negligence, good or bad

20

faith, and private agreements. Rather, the wage and hour statutes

21

have been described as a matter of public concern, were designed

22

to provide minimum substantive guarantees to individual workers,

23

and are essential to public welfare.

24
25

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

26

(Failure to Timely Pay Wages
Labor Code Sections 201-203)

27
28

33.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1 through
-8-
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1 32 inclusive as if fully set forth herein.
2

34.

The class period for this Cause of Action is a three-year period prior to the

3 filing of the Complaint to the present.
4

35.

California Labor Code Section 201 provides in relevant part: “[i]f an

5 employer discharges an employee, the wages earned and unpaid at the time of discharge
6 are due and payable immediately.”
7

36.

California Labor Code Section 202 provides in relevant part: “[i]f an

8 employee not having a written contract for a definite period quits his or her
9 employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not later than 72 hours
10 thereafter, unless the employee has
11 given 72 hours previous notice of his or her intention to quit, in which case the
12 employee is entitled to his or her wages at the time of quitting.”
13

37.

As alleged herein, Defendants failed to pay wages of Plaintiff and Class

14 Members who are former employees of Defendants at the time they became due and
15 payable. Thus, Defendants violated Labor Code Sections 201 and 202.
16

38.

Defendants’ failure to pay wages as alleged herein was willful as

17 Defendants knew that Plaintiff and Class Members did not receive all earned pay based
18 on Defendants’ records.
19

39.

As a result of Defendants’ unlawful acts, Class Members who are former

20 employees of Defendants, or any of them, are entitled to recover, pursuant to California
21 Labor Code Section 203, continuing wages as a penalty from the due date thereof at the
22 same rate until paid or this action was commenced, but no more than thirty days.
23

40.

In addition, if Plaintiff succeeds in enforcing these rights affecting the

24 public interest, then attorneys’ fees may be awarded to Plaintiff and against Defendants
25 under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 and other applicable law in part because:
26

(a)

A successful outcome in this action will result in the enforcement

27

of important rights affecting the public interest by requiring

28

Defendants to comply with the wage and hour laws and California’s
-9-
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1

unfair business practice law;

2

(b)

This action will result in a significant benefit to Plaintiff, the Class,

3

and the general public by bringing to a halt unlawful, unfair,

4

deceptive, and misleading activity and by causing the return of ill-

5

gotten gains obtained by Defendants;

6

(c)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Class Members and the general

7

public will not recover those monies, and many of Defendants’

8

employees would not be aware that they were victimized by

9

Defendants’ wrongful acts and practices;

10

(d)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Defendants will continue to

11

mislead its employees about the true nature of their rights and

12

remedies under the wage and hour laws; and

13

(e)

An award of attorneys’ fees and costs is necessary for the

14

prosecution of this action and will result in a benefit to Plaintiff, the

15

Class, and to consumers in general by preventing Defendants from

16

continuing to circumvent the wage and hour statutes and frustrate

17

the long-standing recognition by the California legislature and the

18

courts that such statutes, as pled herein, are not merely a matter of

19

private concern between employer and employee to be eviscerated

20

by considerations of waiver, contributory negligence, good or bad

21

faith, and private agreements. Rather, the wage and hour statutes

22

have been described as a matter of public concern, were designed

23

to provide minimum substantive guarantees to individual workers,

24

and are essential to public welfare.

25
26

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

27

(Penalties Pursuant to Labor Code Section 226)

28

41.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1 through
-10-
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1 40 inclusive as if fully set forth herein.
2

42.

Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 226(a), on a semi-monthly

3 basis or at the time of the payment of wages, Defendants were required to furnish each
4 of their employees with an accurate itemized statement in writing showing, inter alia,
5 the gross wages earned and the net wages earned.
6

43.

During all pertinent times beginning three years prior to the filing of this

7 Complaint and continuing thereafter, for each of Defendants’ failures to provide duty8 free meal periods to Plaintiff and Class Members or to pay them one hour wages as
9 compensation for each duty-free meal period not provided, in accordance with
10 California law, Defendants failed to furnish Plaintiff and Class Members with an
11 itemized statement in writing showing that they had earned one additional hour of pay
12 for meal periods not provided.
13

44.

As a result of Defendants’ violation of California Labor Code Section

14 226(a), Plaintiff and Class Members suffered injuries, including employee confusion
15 over whether they received all wages owed to them, difficulty and expense involved in
16 reconstructing pay records, and forcing employees to make mathematical computations
17 to analyze whether the wages paid in fact properly compensated them.
18

45.

Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 226(e), Plaintiff and Class

19 Members are entitled to recover the greater of all actual damages or fifty dollars
20 ($50.00) for the initial pay period in which a violation occurs and one hundred dollars
21 ($100) per employee for each violation in a subsequent pay period, not exceeding an
22 aggregate penalty of four thousand dollars ($4,000), and are entitled to costs and
23 reasonable attorneys’ fees.
24

46.

Defendants knowingly and intentionally failed to provide to Plaintiff and

25 Class Members accurate itemized statements, in compliance with California Labor
26 Code Section 226(a), and did so in order to conceal their liability from Plaintiff and
27 Class Members. Thus, Plaintiff and Class members were damaged in that they did not
28 receive accurate itemized statements.
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1

47.

In addition, if Plaintiff succeeds in enforcing these rights affecting the

2 public interest, then attorneys’ fees may be awarded to Plaintiff and against Defendants
3 under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 and other applicable law in part because:
4

(a)

A successful outcome in this action will result in the enforcement

5

of important rights affecting the public interest by requiring

6

Defendants to comply with the wage and hour laws and California’s

7

unfair business practice law;

8

(b)

This action will result in a significant benefit to Plaintiff, the Class,

9

and the general public by bringing to a halt unlawful, unfair,

10

deceptive, and misleading activity and by causing the return of ill-

11

gotten gains obtained by Defendants;

12

(c)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Class Members and the general

13

public will not recover those monies, and many of Defendants’

14

employees would not be aware that they were victimized by

15

Defendants’ wrongful acts and practices;

16

(d)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Defendants will continue to

17

mislead its employees about the true nature of their rights and

18

remedies under the wage and hour laws; and

19

(e)

An award of attorneys’ fees and costs is necessary for the

20

prosecution of this action and will result in a benefit to Plaintiff, the

21

Class, and to consumers in general by preventing Defendants from

22

continuing to circumvent the wage and hour statutes and frustrate

23

the long-standing recognition by the California legislature and the

24

courts that such statutes, as pled herein, are not merely a matter of

25

private concern between employer and employee to be eviscerated

26

by considerations of waiver, contributory negligence, good or bad

27

faith, and private agreements. Rather, the wage and hour statutes

28

have been described as a matter of public concern, were designed
-12-
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1

to provide minimum substantive guarantees to individual workers,

2

and are essential to public welfare.

3
4

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

5

(Enforcement of Private Attorney General Act
Labor Code §2698 et seq.)

6
7

48.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations of Paragraphs 1 through

8 47 inclusive as if fully set forth herein.
9

49.

California Labor Code Division 2, Part 2, Chapter 1, Section 558 provides

10 as follows:
“(a) Any employer or other person acting on behalf of an
employer who violates, or causes to be violated, a section of
this chapter or any provision regulating hours and days of
work in any order of the Industrial Welfare Commission
shall be subject to a civil penalty as follows: (1) For any
initial violation, fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid
employee for each pay period for which the employee was
underpaid in addition to an amount sufficient to recover
underpaid wages. (2) For each subsequent violation, one
hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for each
pay period for which the employee was underpaid in addition
to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. (3)
Wages recovered pursuant to this section shall be paid to the
affected employee.”

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

50.

Defendants’ failures to provide duty-free meal periods, in accordance with

20 California law, including that of California Labor Code Section 512, and applicable
21 Wage Orders, entitle Plaintiff to recover a civil penalty as an aggrieved employee on
22 behalf of herself and other current and former investigators, pursuant to California
23 Labor Code Section 558 and applicable Wage Orders.
24

51.

Defendants' failures to provide duty-free meal periods or to pay

25 compensation of one hour pay for each meal period not provided, in accordance with
26 California Labor Code Sections 226.7 and applicable Wage Orders, entitle Plaintiff to
27 recover a civil penalty as an aggrieved employee on behalf of herself and other current
28 and former investigators employed by Defendants, pursuant to California Labor Code
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1 Section 2699(f).
2

52.

Pursuant to the provisions of Labor Code Section 2699 et seq., Defendants'

3 failures to pay compensation of one hour pay for each duty-free meal period not
4 provided, in accordance with the applicable Wage Orders, entitle Plaintiff, as an
5 aggrieved employee on behalf of herself and other current and former investigators
6 employed by Defendants, to recover the penalties set forth in Labor Code Section 558.
7

53.

Defendants’ failures to provide itemized wage statements, including

8 statements accurately setting forth gross and net wages earned, in accordance with
9 Labor Code Section 226(a), entitle Plaintiff, as an aggrieved employee on behalf of
10 herself and other current and former investigators employed by Defendants, to recover
11 the penalties set forth in Labor Code Section 226.3.
12

54.

Defendants’ failures to timely pay all wages owed, in accordance with

13 Labor Code Section 203, entitle Plaintiff, as an aggrieved employee on behalf of herself
14 and other current and former investigators employed by Defendants, to recover the
15 penalties set forth in Labor Code Section 203.
16

55.

Plaintiff has complied with the procedural requirements specified in Labor

17 Code Section 2699.3 as to each of the alleged violations herein, and the applicable
18 Wage Orders. True and correct copies of the notices sent via certified mail to
19 Defendants and California’s Labor and Workforce Development Agency are attached
20 hereto as Exhibit “A.” Within 33-days of mailing the attached Exhibit, the Labor and
21 Workforce Development Agency has failed to independently investigate the alleged
22 violations asserted by Plaintiff, as an aggrieved employee on behalf of herself and other
23 similarly situated current and former investigators of Defendants, thus entitling Plaintiff
24 herein to pursue causes of action pursuant to Labor Code Section 2699, et seq., the
25 Private Attorney General Act or PAGA.
26

56.

As a result of the violations alleged herein, Plaintiff, as an aggrieved

27 employee on behalf of herself and other current and former investigators employed by
28 Defendants, seek all civil penalties available pursuant to Labor Code Section 2699.
-14-
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1 Therefore, pursuant to Labor Code Section 2699, Plaintiff, as an aggrieved employee
2 on behalf of herself and other current and former investigators employed by
3 Defendants, is entitled to recover all civil penalties owed, attorneys’ fees, expenses, and
4 costs of suit.
5

57.

In addition, if Plaintiff succeeds in enforcing these rights affecting the

6 public interest, then attorneys’ fees may be awarded to Plaintiff and against Defendants
7 under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 and other applicable law in part because:
8

(a)

A successful outcome in this action will result in the enforcement

9

of important rights affecting the public interest by requiring

10

Defendants to comply with the wage and hour laws and California’s

11

unfair business practice law;

12

(b)

This action will result in a significant benefit to Plaintiff, the Class,

13

and the general public by bringing to a halt unlawful, unfair,

14

deceptive, and misleading activity and by causing the return of ill-

15

gotten gains obtained by Defendants;

16

(c)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Class Members and the general

17

public will not recover those monies, and many of Defendants’

18

employees would not be aware that they were victimized by

19

Defendants’ wrongful acts and practices;

20

(d)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Defendants will continue to

21

mislead its employees about the true nature of their rights and

22

remedies under the wage and hour laws; and

23

(e)

An award of attorneys’ fees and costs is necessary for the

24

prosecution of this action and will result in a benefit to Plaintiff, the

25

Class, and to consumers in general by preventing Defendants from

26

continuing to circumvent the wage and hour statutes and frustrate

27

the long-standing recognition by the California legislature and the

28

courts that such statutes, as pled herein, are not merely a matter of
-15-
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1

private concern between employer and employee to be eviscerated

2

by considerations of waiver, contributory negligence, good or bad

3

faith, and private agreements. Rather, the wage and hour statutes

4

have been described as a matter of public concern, were designed

5

to provide minimum substantive guarantees to individual workers,

6

and are essential to public welfare.

7
8

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

9

(Unfair/Unlawful/Fraudulent Business Practices –
California Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 et seq.)

10
11

58.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations above contained in

12 Paragraphs 1 through 57, inclusive, as if fully set forth here.
13

59.

California Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 et seq. (“the

14 UCL”) prohibit unfair competition, including but not limited to any unlawful, unfair or
15 fraudulent business practice.
16

60.

Beginning four years prior to the filing of the Complaint to present,

17 Defendants’ conduct, as set forth above, violates the UCL in the following respects:
18

(a)

Defendants’ policies and practices of failing to provide accurate

19

itemized statements, to provide duty-free meal periods to Class

20

Members constitute unlawful business practices by definition and,

21

thus, violate the UCL;

22

(b)

Defendants’ policies and practices of failing to provide accurate

23

itemized statements, to provide duty-free meal periods to Class

24

Members, constitute unfair business practices because Defendants’

25

practices are unethical, unscrupulous, and substantially injurious to

26

consumers. The harm to Plaintiff, all others similarly situated, and

27

to members of the general public, outweighs the utility, if any, of

28

Defendants’ policy and practice;
-16-
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1

(c)

Defendants’ policies and practices of failing to provide accurate

2

itemized statements, to provide duty-free meal periods to Class

3

Members, constitute fraudulent business practices because

4

Defendants’ practices are likely to mislead Plaintiff, all other Class

5

Members, and members of the general public.

6

61.

The unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business practices by Defendants, as

7 described above, present a continuing threat to the public in that consumers throughout
8 California have suffered and continue to suffer an injury in fact and lost money as a
9 result of Defendants’ unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent acts or practices. Plaintiff
10 suffered an actual injury and brings this action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure
11 Section 382. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of their
12 conduct. Plaintiff, other members of the general public, and Class Members have no
13 other adequate remedy of law in that absent equitable relief from the Court, Defendants
14 are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public
15 interest, thus engendering a multiplicity of judicial proceedings.
16

62.

All Class Members can be identified by reference to records in the

17 possession of Defendants. All Class Members are entitled to restitution of monies due
18 to them during the relevant time period as a result of said Defendants’ unlawful, unfair,
19 and fraudulent conduct, and to injunctive relief.
20

63.

Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to restitution of the unpaid

21 amounts, as an equitable remedy, and interest at the rate of ten percent per annum, costs
22 of suit, and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to the underlying claims as alleged
23 herein above.
24

64.

Pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 17203, this Court may

25 order paid the full amounts wrongfully retained by Defendants to Plaintiff and Class
26 Members, who were not fully compensated for Defendants’ failure to provide duty-free
27 meal periods, for the four-year period prior to the filing of this Complaint and
28 continuing thereafter. Plaintiff will, upon leave of Court, amend this Complaint to
-17-
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1 state the amount of such wrongfully retained amounts when they are ascertained.
2

65.

Injunctive relief is necessary and appropriate to prevent Defendants from

3 repeating the wrongful business practices alleged herein.
4

66.

Plaintiff’s success in this action will enforce important rights affecting the

5 public interest and in that regard Plaintiff sues on behalf of the public as well as herself.
6 Plaintiff and Class Members seek and are entitled to money owing and unpaid, an
7 injunction, an equitable accounting, and all other equitable relief required to remedy
8 Defendants’ failure to pay the required money.
9

67.

In addition, if Plaintiff succeeds in enforcing these rights affecting the

10 public interest, then attorneys’ fees may be awarded to Plaintiff and against Defendants
11 under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 and other applicable law in part because:
12

(a)

A successful outcome in this action will result in the enforcement

13

of important rights affecting the public interest by requiring

14

Defendants to comply with the wage and hour laws and California’s

15

unfair business practice law;

16

(b)

This action will result in a significant benefit to Plaintiff, the Class,

17

and the general public by bringing to a halt unlawful, unfair,

18

deceptive, and misleading activity and by causing the return of ill-

19

gotten gains obtained by Defendants;

20

(c)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Class Members and the general

21

public will not recover those monies, and many of Defendants’

22

employees would not be aware that they were victimized by

23

Defendants’ wrongful acts and practices;

24

(d)

Unless this action is prosecuted, Defendants will continue to

25

mislead its employees about the true nature of their rights and

26

remedies under the wage and hour laws; and

27
28

(e)

An award of attorneys’ fees and costs is necessary for the
prosecution of this action and will result in a benefit to Plaintiff, the
-18-
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1

Class, and to consumers in general by preventing Defendants from

2

continuing to circumvent the wage and hour statutes and frustrate

3

the long-standing recognition by the California legislature and the

4

courts that such statutes, as pled herein, are not merely a matter of

5

private concern between employer and employee to be eviscerated

6

by considerations of waiver, contributory negligence, good or bad

7

faith, and private agreements. Rather, the wage and hour statutes

8

have been described as a matter of public concern, were designed

9

to provide minimum substantive guarantees to individual workers,

10

and are essential to public welfare.

11
12

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

13

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays as follows:

14

1.

On all causes of action, except the fifth cause of action, for an Order

15

certifying the class, naming Plaintiff as Class Representative, and naming

16

the attorneys of record for Plaintiff in the included action as Class

17

Counsel; and allowing this action to proceed and be maintained as a class

18

action;

19
20

2.

On the First Cause of Action:
(a)

Sections 226.7 and 512, and the applicable Wage Orders;

21
22

A declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated Labor Code

(b)

Pursuant to Labor Code Section 226.7, and applicable Wage

23

Orders, an award to Plaintiff and Class Members of an additional

24

hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for meal

25

periods that were not provided or paid for at the rate of an

26

additional hour of pay, in accordance with California law;

27

(c)

Accrued interest pursuant to Labor Code Section 218.6;

28

(d)

An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to, inter alia,
-19-
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1

Labor Code Section 218.5 and 1194 and Code of Civil Procedure

2

Section 1021.5.

3

3.

4

On the Second Cause of Action:
(a)

5

A declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated Labor Code
Sections 201, 202, and 203;

6

(b)

A monetary award to Plaintiff and Class Members of continuing

7

wages as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until

8

paid or this action was commenced, but no more than thirty days;

9

(c)

An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to, inter alia,

10

Labor Code Section 218.5 and 1194 and Code of Civil Procedure

11

Section 1021.5.

12

4.

13

On the Third Cause of Action:
(a)

14

A declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated Labor Code
Section 226;

15

(b)

16

A monetary award as damages or a penalty pursuant to Labor Code
Section 226(e), as allowable by law;

17

(c)

An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to, inter alia,

18

Labor Code Section 218.5 and 1194 and Code of Civil Procedure

19

Section 1021.5.

20
21

5.

On the Fourth Cause of Action:
(a)

A declaratory judgment that Defendants have violated Labor Code

22

Section 201, 203, 204, 226, 226.7, 512, 2802 and applicable Wage

23

Orders;

24

(b)

25
26

203, 210, 226.3, 226.7, 558 and applicable Wage Orders;
(c)

27
28

A monetary award as a penalty pursuant to Labor Code Sections

A monetary award as a penalty pursuant to Labor Code Section
2699(f);

(d)

An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to Labor Code
-20-
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1
2

PROOF OF SERVICE
At the time of service I was over 18 years of age and not a party to this action.

3 My business address is 444 West Ocean Boulevard, Suite 1614, Long Beach, California
4 90802-4524.
5

On March 25, 2011, I served the following documents described as: FIRST

6 AMENDED COMPLAINT. I served the documents on all interested parties, as
7 follows:
8 Lara K. Strauss
Joshua D. Levine
9 LITTLER MENDELSON, APC
501 West Broadway, Suite 900
10 San Diego, California 92101-3577
Telephone: (619) 232-0441
11 Facsimile: (619) 232-4302

Rod M. Fliegel
LITTLER MENDELSON,
APC
650 California Street, 20th Floor
San Francisco, California 94108-2693
Telephone: (415) 433-1940
Facsimile: (415) 399-8490

12 Attorneys for Defendant US Investigations Services, LLC
13

I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this Court at whose

14 direction the service was made.
15

The documents were served by the following means (specify):

16 a.

By Personal Service. I personally delivered the documents to the persons at the
addresses listed above. (1) For a party represented by an attorney, delivery was
made to the attorney or at the attorney’s office by leaving the documents in an
envelope or package clearly labeled to identify the attorney being served with a
receptionist or an individual in charge of the office. (2) For a party, delivery was
made to the party or by leaving the documents at the party’s residence with some
person not less than 18 years of age between the hours of eight in the morning
and six in the evening.

17
18
19
20

b. X By United States Mail. I enclosed the documents in a sealed envelope or
package addressed to the persons at the addresses listed above. I placed the
envelope for collection and mailing, following our ordinary business practice.
22
I am readily familiar with this business’s practice for collecting and processing
correspondence for mailing. On the same day that correspondence is placed for
23
collection and mailing, it is deposited in the ordinary course of business with the
United States Postal Service, in a sealed envelope with postage fully prepaid. I
24
am employed in the county were the mailing occurred. The envelope or package
was placed in the mail at Long Beach, California.
25
c.
By Overnight Delivery. I enclosed the documents in an envelope or package
26
provided by an overnight delivery carrier and addressed to the persons at he
addresses listed above. I placed the envelope or package for collection and
27
overnight delivery at an office or a regularly utilized drop box of the overnight
delivery carrier.
28
21
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